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In the early Restoration period, many commentators perceived a telling analogy
between the advent of the coffee-house and the political upheaval of the Common-
wealth and Protectorate. As the news-sheet writer Henry Muddiman estimated in
1661, coffee was ‘first brought into England’ ‘Six or seven years ago’, at a time when,
he quips, ‘the Palats of the English were as Fanatical, as their Brains’.2 An anonymous
satirist in 1665 tied the coffee-house to the cultural landscape of the English Revolu-
tion even more explicitly:

Coffee and Commonwealth begin
With one letter, both came in
Together for a Reformation,

To make’s a free and sober Nation.?

This essay explores the history of the first coffee-house in London, locating it against
the urban and commercial context of Interregnum London. The extant history of
this coffee-house derives from accounts given by antiquarians and historians in the
late seventeenth century, especially by John Aubrey (1625-1697) and John
Houghton (d. 1705), who proposed that the first coffee-house in London opened in
1652 in St Michael’s Alley in Cornhill Ward. This essay presents hitherto unnoticed
contemporary documentary evidence concerning this enterprise drawn largely from
the parish records of St Michael’s Cornhill, now preserved in Guildhall Library,
London. In addition, it offers some account of the merchants who first engaged in
the trade, drawn from parish and taxation records, and the contemporary records of
public affairs in London and the Levant.

John Aubrey’s notes on the history of the London coffee-houses were collected in
his Brief Lives in the early 1680s,* amongst the biographical materials on the Levan-
tine traveller and diplomat Sir Henry Blount (who had described coffee in his Voyage
into the Levant, published in 1636).5 Despite Blount’s ‘wild’ predilection for ‘common
wenches’, Aubrey says he repudiated other forms of debauchery, especially drunken-
ness. From some unspecified time (implying the late 1630s) Blount ‘dranke nothing
but water or Coffee. When coffee first came-in he was a great upholder of it, and
hath ever since been a constant frequenter of coffee houses’. Blount’s private coffee
consumption initiates Aubrey’s digression on public coffee-houses:
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The first Coffee house in London was in St Michael’s Alley in Cornehill, oppo-
site to the church which was sett up by one ... Bowman (Coachman to Mr
Hodges, a Turkey-merchant, who putt him upon it) in or about the year 1652.
‘Twas about four yeares before any other was sett up, and that was by Mr. Far.
Jonathan Paynter, opposite to St. Michael’s Church, was the first apprentice to
the trade: viz to Bowman.

In a marginal note, he added (unable to supply the date) ‘And the next [coffee-
house to open in London] was Mr. Farr’s a barber, which was set up in anno ...".5

To Aubrey’s speculative and patchy recollections of events can be added the testi-
mony of John Houghton, who researched ‘the original of Coffee and Coffee Houses’
in the late 1690s, nearly half a century after the events he describes. A Fellow of the
Royal Society, John Houghton delivered ‘A Discourse on Coffee’ to that bodv on
June 14 1699, subsequently published in the Philosophical Transactions in September
1699,” and republished two years later — broken into several instalments — in his
popular weekly miscellany, A Collection for Improvement of Husbandry and Trade
(1692-1703).%2 Houghton’s account is worth quoting at length, as it has been so
widely employed by others.

To the same House of Merchandize where this Rastall was, came Mr. Danzel
Edwards, a Merchant from Smyrna (where Coffee had been used immemorially)
who brought with him, Anno 1652, a Greek Servant, named Pasqua, who made his
Coftee, which he drank two or three Dishes at a time twice or thrice a Dav.

The same Year Edwards came over Land into England, and married the Daughter
of one Alderman Hodges, who lived I think in Walbrook. This Hodges used with
great delight to drink Coffee with Edwards, so it is likelv that this Edwards was the
first that brought Coffee into England, although I am inform'd that Dr. Harvey
the famous Inventor of the Circulation of the Blood, did frequently use it.

After this it grew more in use in several private Houses, which encouraged Mr.
Edwards to set up Pasqua for a Coffee-man, who got a Shed in the Church-yard of
St. Michael Cornhil, where he had great Custom, insomuch that the Ale sellers,
fearing it should spoil their Trade, Petitioned the Lord Mayor against him,
acknowledging his not being a Freeman. Upon this Alderman Hodges joined a
Partner with Pasqua one Bowman his coachman, who was made Free, upon which
they lived unmolested in the same place, where Mr. Rastall found them in the
year 1654, but sometime after this Pasqua for some Misdemeanour run away,
and Bowman had the whole Trade, and managed it so well, that by his profits,
and the Generosity of his Customers, who contributed Sixpence a piece, to the
number of almost a Thousand; he turned his Shead into a House, and when he
died, left his Wife, who had been Alderman Hodges's Cook-maid, pretty Rich, but
she died Poor not many Years since.®

Throughout his account, Houghton strives to achieve an appropriate scientific tone
and rhetoric by actively foregrounding the authenticating strategies of empirical
writing, asserting that his evidence derives from eyewitness observers or reliable
intermediaries. Houghton did have some knowledge of the coffee business, as he
had traded as an apothecary and dealer in tea, coffee, chocolate and other luxuries,
from a shop first ‘against the Ship Tavern in St. Bartholomew Lane, behind the Royal
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Exchange’ and subsequently ‘at the Golden Fleece at the corner of Little Eastcheap
in Gracechurch Street’. But unlike Aubrey, who probably was resident in London in
1652, Houghton does not claim to present his own direct experience of these events.
His primary informant was Thomas Rastall, an ‘English merchant’ apprenticed to the
Drapers Company in 1646, subsequently admitted to the Levant Company in 1654,
and secretary to the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1670-74.1° He was still alive in 1701,
when he must have been in his seventies.!! His second informant is the widow of
Humphry Hodskins one of the early apprentices to the trade.

Aubrey and Houghton supply almost all the information hitherto available on the
history of the coffee house in London in the 1650s.12 Some eighteenth-century
research adds minor elucidations, such as the work of the Scottish physician James
Douglas (FRS), who revisited Aubrey and Houghton’s findings in 1727 in a supple-
ment to his prestigious botanical folio on coffee entitled Arbor Yemensis fructum Cofé
ferens. Douglas approved of Houghton’s empirical method, claiming that ‘it will
easily appear, by the bare reading of this Relation, that he took sufficient pains not to
be impos’d on in any of the Facts he mentions’.!> Through his own eyewitness
observers, Douglas too claimed a direct contact with the events 75 years earlier. He
drew on the personal testimony of Walter Elford, whose father had a coffee-house
when he was a school boy in the 1660s, and George Constantine, proprietor of the
Grecian coffee-house in Devereaux Court, whom he describes as ‘the oldest Coffee-
Man now alive in London, and perhaps Christendom’ .1*

Aubrey and Houghton’s account has exerted a powerful influence on subsequent
writers, forming a peculiarly Anglo-centric myth of origin for the ‘European’ coffee-
house.!® The attractions of Houghton’s plotted history have been so compelling for
later historians and commentators that even their antiquarians’ rhetoric can be
detected in some modern accounts. Driven by a powerful narrative force,
Houghton’s account offers strong and colourful characters acting with considered
motive. His story, sometimes carefully attributed, often reinforced by Aubrey, can be
further followed in eighteenth-century works by the botanist Richard Bradley (1721),
the antiquarian William Oldys (1761), the historians Adam Anderson (1764) and
John Ellis (1774).1¢ Numerous historians and scholars repeated the story in the nine-
teenth century,!” and, with some minor embellishments and confusions, it can be
found in the major resources for coffee-house history, such as works by William
Ukers (1922), Aytoun Ellis (1952), Bryant Lillywhite (1963), and from there has
entered standard works of reference, such as The London Encyclopedia (1987).1® The
story received its most public imprimatur in 1952, when the Corporation of London
unveiled a blue plaque celebrating Pasqua Rosee’s coffee-house on the Jamaica Wine
House (a public house) in St Michael’s Alley, invoking Aubrey and Houghton as
authorities.!®

By the late seventeenth century, as these diverse accounts testify, the coffee-house
was a celebrated location in urban culture. Aubrey argued that the spirit of modern
enquiry was fostered by the coffee-house: he himself was ‘much well knowne’
amongst men of letters only from ‘the modern advantage of Coffee-howses [...];
before which, men knew not how to be acquainted, but with their owne Relations,
or Societie.”® Houghton reported that the impetus for his research was the
comment of an unidentified ‘worthy member’ of the Royal Society who argued ‘that
Coffee-houses have improved useful knowledge very much’, for the ‘Coffee-house
makes all sorts of People sociable, they improve Arts, and Merchandize, and all
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other Knowledge’.2! The coffee-house was a central forum for scientific circles asso-
ciated with Robert Hooke and the early Royal Society.?? By the beginning of the
eighteenth century, the coffee-houses’ distinctive contribution to the modern,
sociable and polite arts of conversation made it a felicitous home for The Spectator
essays, in which Steele famously proposed to bring ‘Philosophy out of Closets and
Libraries, Schools and Colleges, to dwell in Clubs and Assemblies, at Tea-Tables and
in Coffee-houses’.?3 In this manner, the coffee-house has often been proposed as a
paradigm of the distinctive and innovative urban sociability of Restoration London,
a constitutive element, for example, in Habermas’s account of the risc of the ‘public
sphere’.?* In the last decade, the coffee-house has been the focus of sustained
research and analysis, especially in relation to questions of gender and the ideology
of politeness.?> This work has shown the Restoration and early eighteenth-century
coffee-house to be a complex and contested space, variously an arena for the
consumption of news, for the drama of politics, and the discussion of science and
the polite arts.?® In these accounts, the antiquarians’ account of the origin of the
coffee-house in the 1650s has been an accepted, albeit unexamined, assumption. In
detailing an account of the coffee-house of Pasqua Rosee and Christopher Bowman
before the Restoration, this essay is a contribution to a material and particular
history of the coffee-house, in which a single coffee-house is examined in its urban
location, as a commercial enterprise subject to regulation by authorities at parish
and city-wide level, and reflecting the interests and soc1ab1ht\ of a specific commu-
nity, that of the merchants associated with the Levant Compam Rather than an
expression of a civic ideal, the coffee-house in this instance is shown to be produced
by and for specific contiguities within the urban culture of Interregnum London.

I

Before the 1650s, the private consumption of coffee in England was virtually
restricted to two groups: those with personal experience of the Levant, such as aliens,
travellers, and merchants of the Levant company, and the scientific virtuosi later
associated with the Royal Society. Aubrey, of course, noted Blount’s coffee drinking
in the 1630s. To this can be added John Evelyn’s recollection in his ‘De Vita Propria’
(probably written in 1697) that whilst he was at Balliol College, Oxford in 1637 there
was a Greek Orthodox student called Nathaniel Conopios who ‘was the first that I
ever saw drink Caffe, not heard of then in England, nor til many yeares after made a
common entertainment all over the nation.’?” The physician William Harvey
(1578-1657) was a regular drinker of coffee at home, obtaining supplies from as
early as the 1620s through his brothers Eliab and Daniel, wealthy Levant merchants.
Harvey left a silver ‘Coffeypot’ to his brother in his will written in 1652.2 In his
recommendation of Walter Rumsey’s experiments on coffee published in 1657,
James Howell (15947-1666) claimed that the practice of ‘this wakeful and civil drink’
was introduced ‘first to London’ by ‘that worthy Gentleman, Mr Mudiford * — refer-
ring to the Turkey merchant James Modyford (d. 1673).% Private coffee-drinking in
London in this period was associated with the ‘Turkey merchants’ of the Levant
Company, presumably because they were the only group able to import regular
supplies, albeit for their own consumption and on an ad hoc basis. Their monopoly
on the trade in coffee was not challenged until December 31 1657, when the East
India Company ordered ten tons of ‘coho seede’ or coffee berries to be imported
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from Surat in India, purchased from Indian Bannians (traders to Mocha, in the Red
Sea). The first sale of the new commodity by the East India Company was in August 1
1660.3!

The coffee-house of Pasqua Rosee and Daniel Edwards can be located in the
culture of coffee-drinking associated with merchants of the Levant Company. Daniel
Edwards was a member of one of the principal families engaged in the Levant trade,
and was active in the Smyrna Factory in the period 1646 to 1651. He was bound
apprentice in the Draper’s Company in 1639,3 and, having been apprenticed to his
brother William, was finally admitted to the Levant Company on 13 January 1652/
53.%3 Daniel Edwards played an active and important role in the Parliamentary party
in the two major scandals that engulfed the Levant Company in the period: the sepa-
rate conspiracies of Sir Sackvile Crow (in 1646-1647)3* and Sir Henry Hide (in
1650)% to seize the profits of the Levant trade for royalist purpose. The Edwards
family, lead by Joseph Edwards, was one of the most prominent in this prosperous
Ottoman city: their house a centre for the social life of the ‘Franks’ or foreign
community. Their balls and suppers frequently attracted women from the Greek
community, and even Turkish guests. Although Izmir (Smyrna) was noted for its
boisterous cross-cultural socialising, in December 1651, the Council of State in
London wrote to the English consul, Spencer Bretton, complaining that ‘Some of
the English residents there live in much licentiousness’, further asking him to send
them a list of ‘names and their miscarriages’.?® The European traders in Izmir relied
on a ‘cosmopolitan and commerce-oriented “Levantine” subculture’ of non-Muslim
Ottomans, especially those Armenians, Greeks and Jews who had valuable knowledge
of local languages and customs. European merchants favoured the Greek commu-
nity as a source for servants: Consul Paul Rycaut later advised that Greek or
Armenian servants were both cheaper and better than English.3” Pasqua Rosee,
according to the antiquarians, comes from this community (certainly his name
suggests he was Christian): such a man would have been well placed to gain skills in
coffee preparation, and have some knowledge of the local coffee-bean market and
coffee-houses.?® There were at least forty coffee-houses in Izmir, ‘according to the
register that Ismail Pasha...[made] in 1657-58 and noted by the Turkish historian
Evliya Celebi (?-1674).3° The French antiquarian Jean de Thevenot, when visiting
Izmir in the 1650s, remarked both on the numerousness and sociable nature of the
‘Cahue-hane’ or coffee-houses he encountered (which he called ‘cabarets publics de
cahue’) %

Although Daniel Edwards is known to have been in Izmir as late as August 1651,
he returned to London soon after, perhaps to escape an outbreak of the plague in
September 1651.4! In London he married Mary Hodges in St Stephen’s, Walbrook
on March 31 1652, the daughter of the prominent Levant merchant Thomas Hodges
(1597-1656).%2 A freeman of the Grocers’ Company since 1630, Thomas Hodges
had gained considerable prestige and wealth through his membership of the Levant
Company and the East India Company, in which he held high office between 1641
and 1655.** When he returned to London, Houghton notes, Daniel Edwards
continued his Levantine habit of taking coffee prepared by Pasqua Rosee: drinking
‘two or three Dishes [of coffee] at a time twice or thrice a Day’.#5 Through his
sharing of Rosee’s coffee with his father-in-law Alderman Hodges, Houghton says it
‘grew more in use in several private Houses’. In this way, Edwards was continuing the
distinctive custom of the Levant Company merchants in drinking this exotic and
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expensive beverage. From celebrity amongst the Levant Company, coffee grew into a
more general vogue: in 1761 the antiquarian William Oldvs wrote that Edwards grew
tired of the time and money spent on this sociable beverage ‘the novelty thereof
drawing too much company to him’.% In response Edwards and Hodges resolved to
open a public coffee-house, conceived as a business enterprise and modelled on the
Ottoman cave-hane. Edwards himself was unable to open a coffee-house himself (a
merchant of the Levant company was required to be a ‘mere merchant’, engaged
solely in wholesale trading).?” The solution was to sponsor Pasqua Rosee in the
venture, setting him up in a small shed in a central location in the City.

II

As an immigrant alien, Pasqua Rosee left no record of his birth, marriage or death in
parish registers. His name is recorded in one of a number of broadside hand-bills
advertising the effects and properties of coffee issued by coffee-men, all of which are
called The Vertue of the Coffee Drinke. one in the British Library has a subtitle indi-
cating that coffee was ‘First publiquely made and sold in England, by Pasqua Rosee , with
the colophon ‘Made and Sold in St. Michael’s Alley in Cornhill, by Pasqua Rosee, at the
Signe of his own Head’.*® This hand-bill (like all the other extant copies with
different coffee-sellers’ colophons) is undated. The antiquarians concur that Rosee
first sold coffee in St Michael’s Alley in 1652, and, while positive evidence for this
date has not been discovered, parish registers show that Rosee was operating from a
house in this location by mid-1656 with his trading partner Christopher Bowman.
Even earlier, Samuel Hartlib, the Bohemian ‘intelligencer’, noted in his Ephemerides
in August 4 1654, that ‘A cuphye-house or a Turkish — as it were — Ale-house is
erected near the Old Exchange [in Cornhill]’ — perhaps referring to Rosee’s busi-
ness.*® Of Rosee’s character the archive tells us little. English was probably his third
language, after Greek and Turkish — and he may have known enough Armenian and
Hebrew to get along in the market. Nonetheless, despite his linguistic abilities,
English satirists found his accent ridiculous. In A Broad-side against Coffee; Or, the
Marriage of the Turk (1672), the satirist explains that the first coffeeman in London
(Pasqua Rosee) was a coachman (to Daniel Edwards), and documenting his strongly
accented speech: ‘Me no good Engalash’. Rosee’s advertising handbills promoted
coffee through its medical effects, which the satirist describes as plaving ‘the Quack
to salve his Stygian stuff’, and recommending that the beverage was ‘Ver boon for de
stomach, de Cough, de Ptisick’.5°

The location adopted by Edwards and Rosee was the churchyard of St Michael’s
on Cornhill, a small church described by John Stow in 1603 as ‘fayre and beautifull’,
but ‘greatly blemished’ by the buildings that encumbered it. To the south of the
church was a ‘proper cloister’, lined with memorials to eminent persons in the
parish, and beyond, the graves and grass of the Churchyard, bounded by a high wall,
and a pulpit cross like that of St Paul’s Yard.5! From the mid sixteenth-century, the
once free standing church had been progressively encircled by building: on the
north side abutting Cornhill, a row of four houses were built in 1569, and to the
south of the churchyard, four messuages had been built on land willed to the church
in 1505 and 1528.52 The churchwardens allowed further building in St Michael’s
Alley, reserving the income for ‘the better maintenance and sustentation of the said
Parish Church of St Michaell in Cornhill’.5® The development of the church’s estate
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reflects the intense pressure for new housing and retail space in the City, as well as a
desire to protect the church’s wealth from sequestration by moving it from plate to
property. Through the records of the parish property, an unusually detailed picture
of the alley’s pre-fire property can be established. Three significant resources remain
concerning the ward of St Michael’s on Cornhill: Vestry Minutes (Guildhall Library
MS 04072), Churchwardens’ Accounts (Guildhall Library MS 04071), and a contem-
porary copy-book of the deeds and leases of the church property (Guildhall Library
MS 04083). Both the Vestry Minutes and the copy-book of deeds were maintained by
the churchwardens themselves, while the Accompt Book was written by a profes-
sional scrivener, working from rough notes supplied by the churchwardens (an
arrangement that Charles Pendell suggests was conventional).5*

If the actions of the vestry are a reliable guide, the parish of St Michael’s Cornhill
was both radical and typical in its religious politics in this period. The 1640s had seen
the vestry attack Laudian innovations in church architecture and liturgical practices:
the Commons order of 1 September 1641 to remove altars and rails was effected,
Keith Lindley has argued, in an orderly manner, supported and paid for by the
vestry. In a similarly obedient fashion, the vestry and churchwardens removed all the
crosses from its walls and windows in May 1643.55 St Michael's was also in the
vanguard of the systematic purge of ‘scandalous’ ministers. The Rector of St
Michael’s, William Brough, was closely associated with the Court and Laud, and was
‘therefore esteem’d by the Puritans an Arminian, Popishly affected and I know
what’.%% In 1714 Walker described how Brough was ‘Persecuted out of his Rectory...
where he was also Plundered, and his Wife and Children turned out of Doors.’>" In his stead
a series of presbyters were installed as either minister or lecturer: Thomas Mall, 1643;
Fulk Bellers, 1645; and Anthony Harford, 1645.58 From 1647 Mr J. Wall filled the
position of minister, until 13 July 1652, when ‘according to his desire’ Wall was
‘discharged from being any longer minister of this parish’.% After further brief
appointments (the Vestry Minutes refer to a Mr Witham and a Mr Styles), the Seques-
trators found some continuity in the appointment on 21 Nov 1653 of Peter Vinke, a
Flemish refugee educated at Cambridge and Leiden. Ordained under the authority
of Parliament by the 4th London Classis in 29 Nov 1649,% Vinke was described by
Calamy as ‘A very good Scholar; of Grave Behaviour, and Moderate Principles’.%! His
apologists said of him that he ‘shone a bright Light’ in the church until the Restora-
tion, when he gave up the title to Brough ‘more from an indisposition to contend,
which was little suitable to his calm temper, than from defect of Title' .52 After Brough
(d. 1672) in turn relinquished the living, John Meriton was appointed Rector in
April 5, 1664, a position he held until his death in 1704.

Much of the church property was centred on St Michael’s Alley. Leading off Corn-
hill, it opened onto several other alleys through built-over passage-ways: George Yard
leading to Lombard St, and Bell Yard leading to Gracechurch Street (although there
was no access through Castle Court to Birchin Lane until after the Fire). The alley
itself, which twisted about around the west and south sides of the churchyard wall,
was narrow, ranging from five or six feet wide at the narrowest, to 12 feet or so at its
wider points.?® The churchyard itself contained many gravestones and memorial
stones, and was covered in grass (the vestry minutes record payments for grass
cutters). The network of lanes and alleys leading off Cornhill and Lombard Street,
near to the Royal Exchange had become central to the City’s commercial culture in
the seventeenth century, comprising an integrated residential, retail and business
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space. The alleys’ narrowness made them ideal for this purpose, for they could not
be encumbered and congested by traffic of carriages and dray carts. They were paved
with freestone, and lit with lanterns and lights from the shops and houses. The
jettied architecture of buildings, nearly meeting over-head in the narrower lanes,
even offered some protection against inclement weather. These alleys were famed
for their provision of business services, offered by scriveners, notaries, bankers, and
booksellers; as well as businesses catering to the sustentation of the man of business,
from shoemakers, buckle-makers and haberdashers to taverns, eating houses,
grocers, and, later, coffee-houses.

The alley and the churchyard were further encumbered by sheds and shop-stalls.
Disputes over several sheds in St Michael’s churchvard were mentioned in the Vestry
Minutes in the 1650s.%4It is from such a structure that Houghton proposes that Rosee
sold coffee. Peter Blayney’s research concerning a shop planned by the printer John
Day in St Paul’s Cross Churchyard in the 1570s, derived from the leases issued by the
cathedral authorities, allows some conclusions to be drawn concerning this type of
shed. Its most typical attribute was an external wooden counter fixed to the wall
below the window. The counter was known as a stall, stall board or shop board, and it
was often hinged so it could be closed up, forming a horizontal shutter across the
lower half of the window. The window, unless it was under cover, would be
surmounted by the overhang of a larger board, known as a pentice or penthouse,
which would function as an awning and cover to protect the stall and the customers
from the rain and sun. The stall and pentice both folded flat against the window
when the shop was closed like shutters, and each was held up by ‘stoopes, postes, and
stayes’ when unfolded.%® Such structures was typically constructed of temporary or
short-life materials: a shed noted in the St Michael Vestry Minutes for 3 July 1603 was
built ‘of deale bourd’ (fir or pine boards cut to a regular size).5 If Rosee’s business
operated from such a shed, it is unlikely to have been a large or well-appointed
‘coffee-house’, but something more akin to a market stall around which clients
would cluster.

As a new and innovative line of trade, Rosee’s coffee-selling entered a potentially
hostile economic environment, retailing a product for which there was no identified
market. The distracted nature of Commonwealth politics, however, may have made
this a good time to trial a new product. Wine and beer, the key competitors for
coffee, were widely attacked by Puritan controversialists, who associated drunkenness
and taverns with the licentious and immoral ways of Royalists.®” Vintners and wine
merchants complained in 1651 and 1652 that supplies of wine languished unsold
despite a collapsing price: John Paige, a London merchant of Canarv wine,
complained on 6 May 1651 that ‘amongst all nothing a greater drug than Canary
wines’.%8 As a commodity, coffee was expensive on the Turkish market, but as an
imported commodity it was transported in small consignments, before being trans-
formed for sale in London by roasting, grinding and dilution with water. It was also
advertised as a sober and healthful drink, conformable to rectitude. Curious about
the ‘cophye-house drinke’, Hartlib was informed by William Brereton in 1654 that ‘It
is a Turkish-kind of drink made of water and some berry or Turkish-beane.[...] Itis
somewhat hot and vnpleasant but a good after relish and caused some breaking of
wind in abundance.’ Brereton estimated that ‘The keeper of that shop or sellar of
that drink gets 30. or 40. shill[ing]s a day’, suggesting that Rosee enjoyed a prodi-
gious turnover of between £450 and £600 per annum.% The price of Rosee’s coffee is
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not known: later in the century commentators noted that ‘For a penny, you may buy
a dish of Coffee, to quicken your Stomach, and refresh your Spirits’, a rate which
suggests Rosee sold over 600 dishes of coffee a day.”

Although Brereton’s estimates of Rosee’s profits are probably overstated, his
success drew attacks from entrenched business interests. Houghton suggests ‘the Ale
sellers, fearing it should spoil their Trade, Petitioned the Lord Mayor against him,
acknowledging his not being a Freeman.’”! Rosee was not free of the City, and was
not permitted to trade in the manner he did. Offences against the trading regula-
tions of the city were prosecuted by the Chamberlain of the City in the Mayor’s
Court, enforcing the Act of Common Council 15 April, 4 James I (‘no non-freeman
may sell by retail in the City on pain of forfeiting £5’). In 1653-54, the Council of
State received several complaints from ‘native tradesmen’ concerning the ‘manifold
abuses’ of strangers and aliens trading in the City and Westminster.” Searches of the
city in 1654 sought to detain and examine foreigners living in the City.”® Tavern-
keeping, moreover, was tightly regulated. Proclamations by the General Sessions of
the Public Peace in 1654 and 1657 required alehouse-keepers to be licensed, and
restricted their number. Cornhill ward was permitted five ale-houses and taverns
between 1654 and 1660, and the constables were required to inform the General
Sessions of any ‘who shall presume to sell or utter any Ale, Beere or other strong
drinke as an Alehouse-keeper without Licence, or keep disorderly houses.”* The
psychoactive properties of coffee and the sociable nature of its consumption, may
have created sufficient ambiguity for the alehouse-keepers to assay a test of Rosee’s
coffee shed in the City regulations .

III

Daniel Edwards and Thomas Hodges, according to Houghton, sought to protect this
profitable new trade, bringing it under the mantle of the Grocers’ Company by
forming a partnership between Rosee and one of Hodges’s former apprentices,
Christopher Bowman. Bowman was named in the 1641 Poll Tax returns as a resident
of Walbrook Ward in the employment of Thomas Hodges.” The Grocers’ Company
Register of Apprentices establishes that ‘Xtoferus Boman’ was registered as an
apprentice to Hodges on 2 April 1644,75 and was formally admitted for seven years
servitude on payment of the fine of 02s. 06d. on 2 May 1644.7” The apprenticeship
records further indicate that he came to London from ‘Mymes in Midd[lese]x’
(South Mimms) and that his father, also called Christopher Bowman, was a yeoman
farmer.”® Despite being registered for only seven years servitude, it was nearly a
decade before Bowman earned his freedom: he was admitted to the ‘Mistery of the
Grocery of the Cittie of London’ on 22 February 1653/54.7

The new partnership also improved the physical accommodation of the building.
From the temporary structure of the shed, the business moved into a more perma-
nent building in a better position across the alleyway from the churchyard. At some
time during the year 1656, Rosee and Bowman began to pay rent on this building,
which was on a short lease, and in a state of some disrepair. Christopher Bowman
first appears in the Churchwardens’ Account book amongst the ‘Rents Received’ for
1656: which notes ‘Re[cei]v[e]d of Mr Marborough for a yeares Rent for the house
now in the holding of Christofer Bowman..... £iijj’. As this suggests, Bowman, having
taken over Mr Marlborough’s tenancy, paid the annual rent of £4 in 1657. Further-
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more, the Accompt Book records the sums allowed to each lessee by the parish for
‘Abatement of Taxes’: stating in the accounts for 1656 ‘Allowed to Passo Rossee and
Mr Bowman 12 months Tax..... xviij 5.’8 As this 18 shillings abatement suggests, the
Churchwardens considered that Christopher Bowman operated his business
together with Pasqua Rosee. This is the earliest mention of Rosee’s name in contem-
porary materials.

The building occupied by Bowman and Rosee in St Michael’s Alley, ‘in and nigh
unto the Churchyard’ as the early leases said of it, was erected at least as early as
1604. The specific location of the building concerned can be determined through
cross referencing the vestry minutes and Churchwarden’s account books with a
contemporary copy-book of the deeds and leases of the church property (GL MS
04083) 81 The building occupied by Bowman and Rosee was built in 1604 as two
messuages.®2 The next lease, dated 15 March 1637, stated that the messuages were in
the ‘several [i.e. distinct] occupacons’ of Thomas Wilkinson, an upholder (dealer in
second-hand articles of clothing or furniture); and William Hope, a bookseller who
traded from the Unicorn in Cornhill between 1635 and 1649, and from near the
north door of the Royal Exchange from 1652-72.8% In the last decade of this lease,
due to expire in 1657, the building was occupied by several tenants in quick succes-
sion: Hannah Barker, John Craven, Mr Ffletcher, Mrs Robinson, before coming into
the hands of Mr Marborough (elsewhere called Mr Marleborough or Malborow)
between 1654 and 1656.8¢ When the lease ran out in 1657, the two messuages were in
the occupation of Christopher Bowman, Pasqua Rosee and Thomas Bladwill, a
merchant of St Olave’s Hart St.# The building was evidently in poor condition, for
the new lease, granted to Bowman ‘By Indenture Dated the 14th Dav of August
1657’, required him to repair or build anew.

The messuage occupied by Bowman and Rosee in 1656 can be identified as the
building G, No. 3, in the Vestry's 1696 summary:

G No. 3 And all that messuage or tenemt erected on a Toft [a house with its
adjoyning lands] of ground scituate on the west side of St Michaells Allev att the
West end of the said Church and Church Yard which said Toft contevnes in
length from north to south att the east side or front thereof towards the said
Alley and Churchyard & also att the west or backward side thereof twenty seaven
foot and an half. And in breadth from east to west att the north end and south
end thereof nineteen foot of assize.%

This is the most accurate summary of the size and location of Bowman’s building,
although it tells us very little about the building. This site is now known as No. 3 St
Michael’s Alley, and is directly across the alley from what is now the Jamaica Wine
House.?” At the vestry 14 July 1657, the minutes record that the Churchwardens
established ‘A committee for building and letting of two houses in St Michael’s
Alley’, who were ‘hereby impowered to determine as they shall think good
concerning the building and letting of the houses in the holding of Christofer
Boman Pars Rosee and Mr Bladwill’. Amongst those on the committee were Richard
Norton and William Rowell, church elders who had been involved in the sequestra-
tion of William Brough in 1641-43,%8 and Nicholas Kelke, a pewterer who later
served as Common Councillor for Cornhill (1671-78).8% In the following weeks
Bowman, Rosee, and Bladwill must have met with the Vestry committee, because on
31 July 1657 the conclusion of their negotiation was announced, and ‘The two
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houses in Church Yard in use of Chr. Bowman & Bladwill are Lease and Lett to
Bowman’. The lease Bowman negotiated

for x1 £ fine & x £ quarterly & that the said Christopher should within the first
five years of the terme expend & lay out in the building of the same CCC £.
before & during the terme of xxxj years beginning at & from the Lady Day 1658.
This Vestry approved of the Same & ordered the Lease so be fairly drawne
accordingly & the ffeoffees of these houses are desired to lease the same.%

The terms and conditions noted in the Vestry Minutes are confirmed and adum-
brated by a copy of the lease itself, and the Churchwarden’s accounts. Described as
‘Cittizen and grocer of London’, Bowman’s lease was granted for 31 years, at the rate
of £10 per annum paid quarterly on 14 August 1657 (to begin next Lady Day, March
25, the beginning of the civil or legal year). In addition Bowman paid a fine of £40
on completion of the lease. Although the fine, length and rent yield of Bowman’s
lease was broadly in line with St Michael’s Churchwardens’ usual practice,® it did
however have some unusual ‘Covenants and Agreemts on the Tennants part’.
Bowman covenanted ‘That he will in the first 5 yeares bestow £300 upon the substan-
tiall new building of the two messuages with all materials and workmanship fitt
necessary’ and have receipts to prove to the Churchwardens that the work was done
to this high standard. Once the new building was erected, the lease went on, he had
to ‘mayntayne support, susteyne, keepe and amend’ it and its glass windows. Further-
more, in order to guarantee that Bowman carried out this work, the lease demanded
of him a bond ‘of the penalty of ffive hundred pounds to pay the Rent and perform
the Covenant’.%2 This was an enormous sum, not required of any of the other tenants
of the church properties, although it may have been a surety only paid if Bowman
did not meet the covenants. The Churchwardens accounts for 1657 do not mention
the payment of any bond, although they acknowledge in ‘Casuall Receipts: Rev. of
Mr Bowman a fine for the new house in the Churchyard lett unto him by the
parish... £x1’.9

Almost as soon as the churchwardens had reached this decision, the proposed
multi-occupancy (by Bowman and Rosee, and by Thomas and Hannah Bladwill) of
the building in the churchyard began to unravel. For some unknown reason, the
Churchwardens decided just before Lady Day in 1657/58 that Mr Bladwill should be
evicted. Thus when the lease was granted, Bowman was given sole title to the prop-
erty. Later entries in the Vestry minutes (8 July 1658) suggest that Bladwill’s
departure from the house was negotiated through John Sweeting, and that Bowman
_paid Bladwill £10 to give up his share of the lease. The Churchwardens’ admitted
some fault in this matter, as they ordered ‘by voat and holding up of hands’ that the
Parish should grant Bowman half of this sum, especially as Bladwill did not depart
until Midsummer 1658.%% The accounts also note complex arrangements for the
abatement of taxes due on the building by Bowman and Rosee, suggesting they occu-
pied the two messuages as one from Midsummer in the last week of June 1657.9
Although Rosee is still clearly Bowman’s partner in June 1657, his name is not
mentioned in the Churchwarden’s records after the date these accounts were
submitted, April 1658. It seems likely that Rosee took no further part in the business
after this time. Houghton suggests ‘sometime after’ Mr Rastall encountered the two
trading together in 1654, ‘Pasqua for some Misdemeanour run away, and Bowman
had the whole Trade’. He continues by adding that Bowman ‘managed it so well, that
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by his profits, and the Generosity of his Customers... he turned his Shead into a
House. % The manuscript evidence suggests a slightly different order, and that Rosee
was still in London, still prosecuting his trade, as late as 1657 or 1658. No record of
Rosee’s misdemeanour has been found, nor any sign that he subsequently opened
coffee-houses in Holland or Germany, as has been sometimes suggested.®’

No visual record survives of Bowman’s coffee-house in St Michael’s Alley, nor anv
of the pre-fire houses in the alley. The Hearth Tax returns for 1662-63 (levied at the
rate of one shilling for each fire, hearth and stove in each dwelling) state that ‘Chris-
topher Bowman’ was assessed at eight hearths, which suggests a building of some
size.% Bowman covenanted in his lease to spend £300 on ‘the substantiall new
building of the two messuages... with all materials and workmanship fitt necessary’.%
According to the schedule of building prices assembled by Stephen Primatt in 1667,
this was sufficient to build a brick London town-house of three or four stories on a
plot of this size.1% Nonetheless, commercial expediency suggests he probably evaded
this provision as far as possible, especially as his lease was for only 31 vears. As
Richard Neve complained in 1703, ‘“The greatest objection against London-houses...
is their slightness, occasioned by the Fines exacted by Landlords. So that few houses
at the common rate of Building last longer than the Ground-lease, and that about 50
or 60 years.’!®! Bowman’s building was most likely built in some version of the
London vernacular favoured by the building trades: a timber framed structure with
lath and plaster or brick infilling, perhaps only restoring or refacing the extant
building. John Schofield, in The Building of London (1993), argues that in this period
‘ordinary houses’ continued to be built in much the same way as thev had for the
previous one hundred years, with timber framed structures, double-storeved bav
windows, and jettied upper floors.!”? According to Walter Elford, who visited
Bowman'’s coffee-house when he was a schoolboy, ‘the Coffee-Room was up one pair
of Stairs’.!9 Bowman’s business may have innovated the kind of dedicated, specially-
furnished coffee-room that was central to coffee-houses of Restoration London.

As the habit of coffee-drinking spread, the coffee-house established Bowman as a
man of importance in the parish. The Churchwarden’s accounts record his payment
of the rent and the various allowances for taxes from 1658 through to 1661.1%* But
other than paying his rent, Bowman was initially a recalcitrant, even difficult member
of the parish. In the Vestry Minutes, on 7 January 1658/59, Mr Shepard declared that
Bowman had finally agreed to pay tithes at 20 shillings a year, beginning at next Lady
Day, 1659. At the vestry of 22 September 1659, Bowman subscribed £5 to the fund for
the repair of the steeple, although he failed to pay it. At the Vestry for 7 May 1660, in
which the Churchwardens decided to restore ‘the King's Arms to ... the Chancell
Window’, they approved a request from Bowman to repair the pavement outside the
coffee-house.

Upon the request of Christofer Bowman Coffee man in St Michael's Alley that
for his own reckoning might at his own charge Levell the missing stone in the
same Alley before the Cloyster. It was consented and agreed that he may accord-
ingly cause the same to be done whereupon he gave 10s to the poore in
ackowledgement of the benefit.1%

The Churchwarden’s description of Bowman as a ‘Coffee man’ predates the first use
of the term in the OED2 (by Richard Leigh in 1673).1% By 1662, Bowman had
become a substantial member of the parish community. He is noted as security for
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coffee imports by the Court of Committees of the East India Company on
December 12, 1660.197 He is listed amongst the parishioners appointed particular
seats in the church in the Vestry Minutes for 20% September 1662 (‘Mr Bowman
Pew 21. Mrs Bowman Pew 17.”).1%8 But soon after, Christopher Bowman died of
consumption, and he was buried in the south isle.!%® He had a funeral befitting his
status: the Accompt Book for 1662 notes the receipt of 12s.4d ‘Ffor Interment of
Christofer Bowman in the Church’ and 4 shillings ‘Ffor his knell’.110

After Bowman'’s death, his coffee-house seems to have gone into decline. Rent
payments for the building for 1662 and 1663 were made by Mrs Bowman, who also
received the tax abatements.!!! In the City’s census of coffee-house proprietors made
in May 1663, ‘Widow Bowman'’ is listed as one of six coffee-houses in Cornhill.}1? At
some time in 1664, she remarried Jeremiah Jenoway (about whom little is known).!!3
In 1664 she continued to pay the rent as ‘Mrs Jenoway formerly Bowman’, and in
1665 and the first quarter of 1666 it was paid by ‘Mr Jenoway for the house late Mr
Bowmans’.!* Although it is not clear whether Bowman’s coffee-house continued
trading, Houghton argues that Bowman'’s apprentices continued the business:

John Painter was Bowman’s first Apprentice, and out of his Time in 1664, Bowman
died 1663, and after one Year his Wife let the House to one Batler, whose
Daughter Married Humphrey Hodskins, Bowman’s second Apprentice, who was
with him before Monk’s March, Anno 1659. This Humphry lived long in St. Peter’s-
alley in Cornhil, and died not many Years since, and left there his Widow, Batler’s
Daughter, from whom I had this Account.!®

John Painter, Bowman'’s first apprentice, was admitted a freeman of the Grocers’
Company on May 3 1666 (despite Houghton’s claim that he had served out his time
by 1664), suggesting that he was apprenticed in 1658 or 1659.1'¢. In the 1670s,
Painter went on to establish a rival coffee-house across Cornhill in Sweeting’s
Alley.!'” Bowman's second apprentice was Humphry Hodskins: he was the son of a
labourer residing in Spittlefield (Spitalfields), and was indentured on 13 June 1661
(not March 1659/60, known as Monks March, as Houghton says),!’® and was
admitted a freeman on 15 June 1668.!"® Humphry Hodskins married a woman
Houghton identifies as ‘Batler’s daughter’. An undated trade token, issued before
the fire, suggests that Bowman’s coffee-house was under the proprietorship of two
men, George Backler (Batler) and Stephen Hayward, and it is possible that Hodskins
continued working in the coffee-house with his father-in-law. On the obverse of this
half-penny token was inscribed Backler and Hayward’s names, with a device in the
centre depicting a hand pouring coffee into a cup. On the reverse the inscription
read ‘At the Ould Coffee House in St. Michells Ally. Formerly Bomans’.120 At the end
of 1665, in Hearth Tax returns for the second precinct of Cornhill, George Backler
and Stephen Hayward’ were assessed at eight hearths.1?!

v

Bowman'’s coffee-house, and the close-built wooden city around it, was destroyed in
the Great Fire of 1666. The fire, which started in the early hours of Sunday 2
September, consumed St Michael’s Alley, and the whole of Cornhill, including the
Royal Exchange, on Monday 3 September. Yet when the fire was finally extinguished
on Thursday 6 September, the tower and walls of St Michael’s church still stood.
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When St Michael’s was rebuilt (completed 1672), the foundations of the church and
its fourteenth-century tower were preserved.'?? The old street plan and property
boundaries in Cornhill Ward were re-established by the Rebuilding Commissioners
from December 1667. Their ‘Posting Book’ records that ‘Jeremy Jeneway in
Michaell’s Alley’ paid his fee of 6s. 8d. for surveying the foundations of a building on
October 4 1669.12 The Vestry Minutes on 30 June 1668 note the negotiations of the
parish feofees with Jeremiah Jeneway, ‘whoe marryed the Widow of Christopher
Bowman deceased, [...] concerning the rebuilding of the house formerly in Mr
Bowmans occupacon, belonging to this parish on the West side of St Michael’s Alley
which by the late fire in London was burnt downe’. Agreement was reached for a
lease, finally granted on 6 August 1669, granting him ‘the Grounds whereupon the
said late house stood to build upon One house according the Act of Parliament for
the rebuilding of the Cittie of London ffor the terme of ffourscore and one \Cires
from Michaelmas 1669 at his old rent of Ten pounds per an: payable quarterly’.'?# At
the next Vestry, on 4 August 1668, the draft of Jeneway’s lease was read and
approved.m5 After the foundations were surveyed in October 1669, and the back-rent
paid, Jeneway began construction.!?¢ Unfortunately, Jeneway did not live long to
enjoy his new house, as he died and was buried in the south isle of St Michael’s on
March 5 1670/71.1%7 After her second husband died, Widow Jeneway seems to have
had no further interest in the house, and the lease was taken up by Mr William Cave,
a ‘clerke’, later known as Dr Cave (probably not the divine).!?® Houghton, writing in
1699, remarks (without knowing of her second marriage) that when Bowman died
he ‘left his Wife, who had been Alderman Hodges's Cook-maid, pretty Rich, but she
died Poor not many Years since’.'? No record of her death has been found.

After the fire it seems clear that No. 3 St Michael’s Alley was not used as a coffee-
house.!® The business had been facing stiff and increasing competition since the
late 1650s. In September 1658, Thomas Garway (from a family of Levant merchants)
was advertising in Mercurius Politicus a ‘ Cophee-house’ located at the sign of The Sulta-
ness-Head in Sweeting’s Rents, only fifty yards awav across Cornhill.!*! By the 1660s,
the most renowned coffee establishment in the area was the Great Coffee House in
Exchange Alley, opposite the Royal Exchange, to which Pepys makes frequent refer-
ence in 1663.132 This alley, speculatively built by a consortium (a ‘quadripartite’) of
goldsmith bankers lead by Charles Everard in 1661-1662, was planncd and designed
to maximise the commercial potential of the ancillary trading around the Royal
Exchange. It quickly eclipsed the rival alleys on Cornhill. As Strype described it in
1720, it was ‘a large Place vastly improved [and] well built, ... a Place of very consid-
erable Concourse of Merchants, Seafaring Men and other Traders’.133 By December
1662, ‘the Coffee-house in Exchange-Alley’ at the sign of Morat the Great was adver-
tising in Kingdom’s Intelligencer, and making a special offer of coffee ‘on free cost’ to
attract custom.'® The proprietor, Walter Elford, a girdler (the father of James
Douglas’s informant) was granted a lease on 27 May 1664 at an extraordinarily high
price — a fine of £200, and a rent of £100 per annum for 21 years — which indicated
the profitable potential of a coffee-house on this site.!3% After the fire of 1666, Elford
could not meet the terms of the rebuilders (lead by the goldsmith Alderman Edward
Backwell), and he was excluded with paltry compensation. Instead, Thomas Garr-
away took the lease on the substantial new building in the alley, where his famous
coffee-house went on to gain renown as a place of business and rendezvous for
merchants and traders until 1873.
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Bowman’s coffee-house, although superseded by its competitors in the 1660s,
helped establish the coffee-house in the urban and commercial sociability of Inter-
regnum London. The particular location of St Michael’s Alley — proximate to, but
separate from, the bustling commercial activity of the Exchange — encouraged the
swift naturalisation of the coffee-house in the commercial culture of the city. From a
narrow and limited appeal to merchants in the Levant Company, the coffee-house
engaged the curiosity of the emergent scientific community and attracted a wide-
ranging clientele that both eroded and reinforced deeply felt partisan and sectarian
divisions. In December 1659, the agricultural improver John Beale (1608-1683) was
already complaining of the ‘wantonesse’ or popularity of ‘the coffa-beane’, arguing
that such ‘vanityes & Luxury’ corrupted the commonwealth, diverting English wealth
‘to sustaine our forreigne brethren’. He cautioned Samuel Hartlib in December
1658, that the ‘Coffa-drinke will growe into generall use having already obtaind such
a general reception by young & old in our Innes of Courts; & I should rather wish
our supply from our owne plantations, than from Turkye’.!36

In 1659, during the final year of the republic, the coffee-houses became firmly
associated with the tumultuous political culture of the Commonwealth. Thomas
Rugg, a barber of Covent Garden, wrote in his Diurnalin 1659 that ‘theire ware also
att this time a Turkish drink to bee sould, almost in evry street, called coffee’.!37 In
the last months of the republic, James Harrington held the meetings of his famous
Rota Club at the Turk’s Head Coffee-house in New Palace Yard, Westminster, where
debates on the future form of government were conducted around a specially
constructed semi-circular table, provided by the proprietor Miles.!3% As one of the
few social or political innovations of the Interregnum to survive virtually unaltered
into the Restoration, the coffee-house to many contemporaries seemed to have
been strongly marked by the Republic. To subsequent decades, the coffee-house
was not simply associated with the Interregnum, and even perhaps republican
thought, because of its emergence in that historical period, but also because of its
association with a coffee-driven culture of debate and news amongst the common
people.

The coffee-houses were, however, quickly subsumed into the Restoration settle-
ment. The Excise Act of 1660, modelled on the system established by Parliament
during the Interregnum, extended the excise to coffee (along with tea and choco-
late), with the tax being levied on coffee-house keepers.!3® But although Royal
revenues thereafter relied to some small extent on the coffee-house, Royalist
commentators continued to associate the coffee-houses with Interregnum London.
John Evelyn, writing in May 1659, thought them a clear sign of London’s republican
depravity. The city was, he said, ‘a very ugly Town, pestred with Hackney-Coaches’, a
‘pestilent Smoak’, and obsessed and ‘universally besotted’ by coffee and tobacco: it
was ‘most deplorable’, he continued, that ‘the gentlemen sit, and spend much of
their time [...] drinking of a muddy kind of Beverage, and Tobacco.’'*°
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Figure 1. Map of Parish Leases in St Michael’s Alley 1652-1666.

St Michael’s Cornhill leases in St Michael’s Alley are ordered A to G in GL MS 04083, fol. 7r-v
(probably written in 1696). The base map for this map is developed from Ogilby and
Morgan’s map of 1677, the first map of London based on a survey (redrawn by Edward Oliver,
Cartographer, Geography Department, Queen Mary, University of London). Reproduced by
permission. Bowman'’s coffee-house was located in the messuage named G from 1656 to 1666.
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